
 
 

BENICIA PLANNING COMMISSION  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

City Hall Council Chambers 

Thursday, March 12, 2015 

7:00 P.M. 

 

I. OPENING OF MEETING 

 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 

B. Roll Call of Commissioners 

Present:   Commissioners Oakes, Sprague, Smith (arrived 7:22) 

Young and Chair Dean 

Absent:   Commissioners Cohen-Grossman and Sherry  

Staff Present: Amy Million, Principal Planner 

Suzanne Thorsen, Associate Planner 

Kat Wellman, Contract Attorney 

C. Reference to Fundamental Rights of Public  

 

II. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

On motion of Commissioner Sprague, seconded by Commissioner Oakes the 

agenda was adopted, with the change to move item V.A., Appeal of Community 

Development Director Decision of Jefferson Street Bed and Breakfast, to the end 

of the Regular Agenda, by the following vote: 

 

Ayes: Commissioners, Oakes, Sprague, Young and Chair Dean 

Noes: None 

Absent: Commissioners Cohen-Grossman, Sherry and Smith 

Abstain: None 

 

III. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

A. WRITTEN– None.  

 

B.  PUBLIC COMMENT  

 Marilyn Bardet, Benicians for a Safe and Healthy Community, requested 

information about the recirculation of the Draft EIR for the Valero Crude by Rail 



 2 

Project. She provided a copy of her questions and requested a written 

response by the City.  

 

IV. CONSENT CALENDAR 

On motion of Commissioner Young, seconded by Commissioner Sprague, the 

consent calendar was approved, by the following vote: 

 

Ayes: Commissioners Sprague, Young and Chair Dean 

Noes: None 

Absent: Commissioners Cohen-Grossman, Sherry and Smith 

Abstain: Commissioner Oakes 

 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 5, 2015 REGULAR MEETING 

 

V. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

 

A.  USE PERMIT TO OPERATE A 2,600 SQUARE FOOT PERSONAL HEALTH AND 

FITNESS STUDIO AFTER DETERMINATION THAT THE PROJECT IS EXEMPT FROM 

CEQA    

15PLN-00003 Use Permit 

4876 East Second Street  

APN:  0080-510-290 

 

Suzanne Thorsen, Associate Planner, gave an overview of the request. 

 

The Commission inquired about consequences for work without a permit, 

roll-up doors and noise, and the size and use of the mezzanine.  

 

The Commission commented on the parking and the impacts of non-

industrial uses in the industrial park.  

 

Geoff Quares, applicant, clarified that he did not construct the 

mezzanine that is in his tenant space and provided additional information 

about himself and his business. 

 

The public hearing was opened.  

 

Jasmine Powell, President of the Benicia Industrial Park Association, 

expressed concerns about non-industrial uses moving into the Industrial 

Park, especially safety concerns with children and truck traffic.  She 

stated that non-industrial uses are negatively affecting the Industrial Park. 

 



 3 

John Jackson, Scott’s Auto Repair, noted that it is difficult to find space 

for a business in the City and spoke in support of the Use Permit. 

 

The public hearing was closed.  

 

Commissioners concurred with the issues raised by Ms. Powell but stated 

that the proposed use, as conditioned, is compatible in the specific 

location proposed.  Commissioner Smith and Chair Dean underscored 

the importance of a policy discussion on the issue of health and fitness 

uses in the Industrial Park.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 15-1 OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BENICIA APROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR A HEALTH/FITNESS 

STUDIO AT 4876 EAST SECOND STREET (15PLN-00003; APN: 0080-510-290) 

 

On motion of Commissioner Young, seconded by Commissioner Sprague, 

the above resolution was approved, by the following vote: 

 

Ayes: Commissioners Oakes, Smith, Sprague, Young and Chair Dean 

Noes:  None 

Absent: Commissioners Cohen-Grossman and Sherry  

Abstain: None 

 

B.       GENERAL PLAN IMPLEMENTATION REPORT 

 

Ms. Million presented the General Plan Annual Implementation Report.  

 

Commissioner Young inquired about protection of agriculture and open 

space; funding for public art; air quality monitoring at Valero; 

authorization of business incentives; enforcement of water usage 

restrictions; use of Community Development Block Grant for restoration of 

historic homes in low-income areas; administration of the CDBG program; 

regulation of live-work spaces; implementation of the Housing Element; 

grant for traffic circulation in the Industrial Park; and mobile home park 

conversion.   

 

Chair Dean noted that the General Plan was last adopted in 1999 and 

inquired about state regulations for renewal of the General Plan. Ms. 

Million responded that the State encourages the City to re-evaluate the 

plan. A comprehensive update would address at least four elements. The 

City Council has explored a technical update, but Ms. Million noted that 

there are financial constraints. 

 

Ms. Million stated that there is no current discussion of a fee exaction for 



 4 

public art, but suggested that the Planning Commission could add this 

topic to the Priority List of Discussion Items for the coming year.  She 

clarified that in the future a Senior Planner, which is a recently authorized 

position, would administer CDBG for the City. 

 

Dana Dean, 283 East H Street, commented on the age of the General 

Plan, expressed support for an update, and clarified the Sky Valley 

committee’s role in obtaining conservation easements and purchasing 

buffers. 

 

C.       APPEAL OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR DECISION TO APPROVE 

A USE PERMIT TO OPERATE A BED AND BREAKFAST AT 963 JEFFERSON STREET 

IN THE OFFICE COMMERCIAL (CO) DISTRICT, AFTER A DETERMINATION THAT 

THE PROJECT IS EXEMPT FROM CEQA   

 15PLN-00002 Appeal 

 963 Jefferson Street 

 APN: 0080-150-490, -010 

 

Commissioner Sprague recused herself due to her firm representing the 

project applicant. 

 

Ms. Million provided an overview of the project.  

 

The Commission asked various questions including the Bed and Breakfast, 

number of kitchens, the distinction between hotels and Bed and Breakfasts, 

and details of the floor plan.  

 

Kat Wellman, Contract Attorney, clarified the nature of noise complaints in 

the Arsenal area. 

 

Dana Dean, 283 East H, Appellant on behalf of Amports,  expressed 

concern about conflicting uses in the Industrial Park, particularly between 

residential and industrial uses, and expressed concern about “airport 

syndrome”. She outlined four points: 

o The City should not continue to authorize location of incompatible 

uses next to each other. 

o The City is not consistent in its approach to the Industrial Park, as it 

invests significant resources to attract business but does not protect 

lawfully operating businesses from incompatible uses that generate 

complaints. 

o A condition should be imposed on the project to provide protection 

from complaints about incompatibility. 

o There is a potentially significant impact on the Port due to 

incompatibility with the General Plan, and this issue was not 



 5 

adequately evaluated in the CEQA analysis.  

 

Commissioner Young inquired about evaluation of port impacts, adequacy 

of buffers, the number and type of noise complaints. 

 

Stephen David, applicant and property owner, addressed Ms. Dean’s 

comments. Commented on specific noise issues, including the proximity of 

the subject property to Amports and the nature of noise generated from an 

industrial property in the Arsenal.    

 

Commissioners inquired about noise, the condition of approval requested 

by Amports, the number of kitchens in the building to serve the Bed and 

Breakfast, the use of rooms labeled “private” on the floor plan, the nature 

of events to be held in the facility. 

 

The public comment was opened.  

 

Jasmine Powell, Benicia Industrial Park Association, commented on the 

encroachment of residential uses on industrial areas and stated that 

industrial uses in Benicia should be protected. 

 

The public hearing was closed. 

 

Ms. Dean commented on the viability of the bed and breakfast, the 

incompatibility of the use, and the possibility that the bed and breakfast 

may have a cause of action against industrial and port uses in the future 

due to industrial impacts such as noise, odor and dust.     

 

Mr. David discussed Ms. Dean’s letter (dated March 12, 2015) and stated 

that her request is unreasonable as he has never filed a complaint related 

to noise from Amports or any other use, and commented on his experience 

running businesses and maintaining and restoring historic buildings.  

 

Commissioners expressed support for a condition on the project similar to 

that in Ms. Dean’s letter to acknowledge the adjacent industrial uses.   

 

The Commission made comments regarding the Lower Arsenal Specific 

Plan, the Design Review/Use Permit process in general, landscaping, 

parking, accessibility compliance, CEQA exemption, and the commercial 

use classification of a Bed and Breakfast. 

 

The Commission requested clarification from the City Attorney regarding 

the distinction between a deed restriction and a recorded 

acknowledgement and the ability to overturn past CEQA decisions.  



 6 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 15-2 OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BENICIA DENYING THE APPEAL AND UPHOLDING THE DECISION OF THE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR TO APPROVE A CONDITIONAL USE 

PERMIT TO ESTABLISH A BED AND BREAKFAST AT 963 JEFFERSON STREET 

(15PLN-00002)  

 

On motion of Commissioner Young, seconded by Commissioner Oakes, the 

above resolution was approved with the additional condition of approval: 

 

The applicant acknowledges that nearby land uses generate noise 

and that the operation of the bed and breakfast is being done with 

full knowledge and acceptance of the potential impact that 

adjacent uses may have the bed and breakfast;  

 

by the following vote: 

 

Ayes: Commissioners Oakes, Young and Chair Dean 

Noes:  Smith 

Absent: Commissioners Sherry and Cohen-Grossman 

Abstain: Commissioner Sprague  

 

VI. PROCLAMATION FOR COMMISSIONER BELINDA SMITH 

Chair Dean read the proclamation for Commissioner Smith.  

 

VII.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM STAFF 

Ms. Million provided an update on the appointments to the Planning Commission.  

 

VIII. COMMUNICATIONS FROM COMMISSIONERS 

Commissioner Oakes commented on the need to better outline and document 

approval processes, especially for cases that involve multiple Commissions, and 

that while it is necessary to protect the city’s economic assets it is difficult to 

achieve this on a one-off basis. 

 

Chair Dean concurred with Commissioner Oakes and requested that a discussion 

item be presented on protection of industrial uses. 

 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 

 Chair Dean adjourned the meeting at 9:27 p.m. 
 


